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FOUNDATION HOUSE 

• Provides services to clients in the form of 

counselling, advocacy, family support, group work, 

psycho-education, information and complementary 

therapies.

• Works with client communities to improve their 

capacity to access the services they need and to 

enable them to support recovery.

• Offers professional and organisational 

development, consultancy and resources to 

assist health, education, employment and other 

community service providers to enhance the 

responsiveness of their services to the needs of 

people of refugee backgrounds.

• Works with the Commonwealth and Victorian 

governments to ensure that policies and programs 

have proper regard to the needs of people of 

refugee backgrounds.

• Conducts, and contributes to, research regarding 

the needs of people of refugee backgrounds, and 

the best possible ways of addressing those needs.

Foundation House is a statewide agency offering services throughout Victoria. We have approximately  

200 staff across our five offices in Brunswick, Dallas, Dandenong, Ringwood and Sunshine, and we also  

provide services in partnership with other agencies in regional and rural areas.

OUR VISION
A world without torture and where communities respect, embrace and empower people from refugee 

backgrounds to thrive.

OUR PURPOSE
To be a leader in delivering specialist trauma-focussed services that work with the strengths and resilience of 

refugees, their families and communities, to rebuild lives shattered by torture and other traumatic events.

OUR VALUES
We aim to build trust and confidence, promote wellbeing and achieve the best possible outcomes by:

RESPECT

Valuing the inherent strengths and capability  
of clients and their communities. Treating others  

the way we would like to be treated, being 
accountable and honest.

HUMAN RIGHTS

Acknowledging, promoting and defending  
human rights.

COMMUNITY

Working together, supporting and engaging  
each other in all aspects of what we do.

EXCELLENCE

Dealing with complex and difficult problems and 
always looking for ways to improve. Maintaining 

professional standards and ethical practice.

INTEGRITY

Remaining independent and non-aligned,  
living our shared values.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
OF COUNTRY
The primary locations of the Victorian Foundation 
for Survivors of Torture Inc., Brunswick, Dallas, 
Dandenong, Ringwood and Sunshine, are on the 
traditional lands of the Kulin nation. Lands, we 
acknowledge, that were never ceded.

In keeping with Foundation House’s aspiration to heal 
individuals and communities we recognise the loss 
of children, land, language, lore and the spiritual and 
physical wellbeing of the people of the Kulin nation 
and other Indigenous Victorians due to the impact  
of colonisation.

We believe that acknowledging the past and its 
impact on the present is vital in building strong 
Victorian communities. We recognise the survival 
and enduring strengths of Victorian Indigenous 
culture in spite of such dispossession. We aim to 
build respectful and informed relationships with 
the Victorian Indigenous community based on the 
acknowledgement of their unique position as the 
traditional owners of Victoria. 

We pay our respects to Elders past, present  
and emerging.
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FROM THE CHAIR 

In trying to think back over the year that was 2021–22,  
it feels like such a long time ago. And yet, at the 
moment, it feels like the blink of an eye. 

There is something about the work of Foundation House 
that shows such resilience, endurance and innovation, 
where the commitment to deliver on its purpose and 
priorities is never lost – even through a pandemic. 
Acknowledging the critical role of every Foundation 
House staff member, and the learnings we gain from  
the clients and communities we work with, is where  
we must always begin.

The year 2021–22 was when we proudly launched the 
new Strategic Plan that sets the priorities of the Board 
and the organisation through to 2024. It is an ambitious 
plan that raises the bar on what we want for the clients 
and communities we work with, and what we want as 
a global leader in delivering trauma-informed practice. 
I am proud to have been part of this consultative, 
collegiate and heartfelt process, where our clients and 
community are held as core to what we do.

Undoubtedly, work in this field is complex and often 
challenging. Still, for Foundation House, this has proved 
no barrier to thinking through opportunities to grow 
in the leadership and influence of the organisation in 
policy, system design and service delivery, with the 
ultimate aim of working with the strengths and resilience 
of refugees, their families and communities to rebuild 
lives shattered by torture and other traumatic events. 

Our Strategic Plan commits us to five key priorities 
focused on delivering excellent, high-quality work:

• Services that meet the needs of clients

• Strong client communities

• Strong sector capability

• Shape and influence

• Sustainable agency.

The next three years of the plan will see us unpack 
each of these priorities and translate them into robust 
and exciting plans for action. This will be particularly 
important in the current environment of reform and 
change driven by Royal Commissions across mental 
health, ageing and disability. 

Foundation House was well placed to deliver on these 
priorities after excelling in our National Standards for 
Mental Health Services accreditation. This summary 
from our accreditation report is a testament to the work 
of the past but also our preparedness for the future:

‘VFST demonstrated exemplary consumer engagement 
practices, with the effective participation of refugee and 
asylum seeker representatives informing service design 
and strategies. 

Advocacy also is exemplary, the organisation and its 
leadership providing coherent, data-rich information 
to Victorian agencies, Commonwealth Government 
agencies and sector entities. 

Excellence in health promotion and prevention, 
professional capability building, and sector capacity 
building are features of the impacts of VFST training, 
professional development and research activities. 

Of particular note is the quality of the leadership 
throughout the Board, Executive and management, 
who are impressive in combining competence and 
compassion in advancing the Mission and Guiding 
Principles of VFST.’

Very few organisations achieve this level of acclaim in 
accreditation processes. We did! I would like to take this 
opportunity to congratulate all staff who contributed to 
this success. I speak on behalf of myself and every board 
member when I say it is our privilege to be part of what 
you do daily. 

This year we were saddened to say goodbye to two 
of our longstanding board members – Helen Casey, 
our Deputy Chair, and Richard Home, board Treasurer. 
Both Helen and Richard served the board impeccably 
for eight years as Chairs of the Strategic Planning and 
Governance Committee and the Finance, Audit and  
Risk Management Committees respectively. Their 
expertise and passion for the work of Foundation  
House significantly shaped our growth and  
development over the last decade. 

As we move forward with new priorities in an 
environment of significant reform, we recognise  
that we will always stand on the shoulders of those  
that came before us.
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FROM THE CEO 

NATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS

The Australian Government reacted to the severe 
humanitarian impacts of events in Afghanistan and 
Ukraine by significantly increasing the intake of people 
from those countries accepted for settlement in Australia. 
Many have come to live in Victoria and a number have 
become clients.

In August 2021, Prime Minister Morrison asked me to  
Co-Chair with Alison Larkins, who is the Coordinator 
General for Migrant Services, an Advisory Panel on 
Australia’s Resettlement of Afghan Nationals. We 
established and led a consultation process that enabled 
Afghan community leaders, key NGOs and volunteer 
groups to assist in the development of a program and 
the provision of services. This process led to $27 million 
of new funding for Afghan community groups, legal 
services, employment support and trauma counselling 
services. Most importantly, it also led to an additional 
16,500 places for Afghan refugees over the next four 
years on top of the existing humanitarian program quota.

The ALP national government elected in May 2022 
committed to transitioning eligible refugees from 
Temporary Protection Visas and Safe Haven Enterprise 
Visas onto permanent visa arrangements. The 
implementation of this commitment will be significant 
for many clients and others in the community, affording 
certainty about their status in Australia and access to 
important elements such as the right to apply for family 
members to migrate here. We continue to actively 
engage with  ministers and public servants to support the 
policy being realised in a timely and effective manner. 

The new government has less-specific commitments 
on other subjects of significance to our clients and 
communities, in particular, aspiring to increase the 
number of people accepted for settlement under the 
Humanitarian Program, and reforming the system of 
immigration detention so people are less likely to be 
detained for extremely long periods without proper 
review. We will advocate directly and in concert with 
others to encourage the government to bring about 
change in these areas.

VICTORIAN DEVELOPMENTS

A key ongoing focus of our work in relation to the 
Victorian Government has been our engagement with the 
implementation of the major reforms following the report 
of the Royal Commission into Victoria’s Mental Health 
Services. We continue to contribute in various ways, 
including participating in consultations and membership 
of advisory bodies. These include a new Mental Health 
Ministerial Advisory Committee established by the 
Minister for Mental Health to provide strategic guidance 
to the Victorian Government on the implementation of 
the recommendations made by the Royal Commission. 

A major initiative recommended by the Royal 
Commission is the establishment of a ‘Statewide Trauma 
Service’ to be run by a consortium of mental health 
agencies. Foundation House has been approached to be 
a member of a consortium to bid for the funding to set 
up and manage this new agency. 

We continued to deliver a diverse array of mental 
health and community programs designed to support 
refugees and asylum seekers to cope with the challenges 
presented by COVID-19. The impact of the pandemic has 
been severe in the communities we serve, and our effort 
in this area will continue to be a feature of our work in the 
year ahead.

I would like to acknowledge and sincerely thank the entire 
Foundation House team for the skill and commitment 
with which they undertake their work that demonstrably 
benefits our clients, their families and communities. 
Thank you also to Remberto Rivera and members of the 
Board of Management, for the excellent guidance and 
support they always provide to me and to the  
entire organisation. 
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OUR WORK WITH SURVIVORS

WORDS FROM A CLIENT:
‘To individuals at Foundation House, thanks a lot for being there for us. I’ve received my 

citizenship and start to feel I belong, I’m in the moon and my confidence increased a lot. After 
years, I start to feel value and I want to share this joy and happiness with you and to thank every 

one of you for all your fantastic work. God bless all of you.’

OUR CLIENTS

In the financial year 2021–22, Foundation House provided direct services to 4,911 refugee background 
survivors of torture and other traumatic events. 

Direct services for clients include a range of 
specialist interventions, including:

• individual and family counselling with children, 
adolescents, young people and adults 

• client advocacy

• psycho-education group sessions

• referral and facilitated access to mainstream  
and other services

• group programs

• complementary therapies such as traditional  
herbal medicine and massage

• access to mental health clinic services

• community-based and school-based strategies  
for refugee trauma recovery

• the Ucan2 program

• partnerships for service delivery across rural  
and regional Victoria. 

Counselling services are based on a comprehensive 

assessment process and a holistic approach to recovery. 

The health and wellbeing of all family members is part 

of this assessment. Choice of interventions depends 

on the severity and nature of presenting problems, and 

consideration of the client’s familiarity and acceptance 

of certain forms of assistance. This financial year, 

a brief intervention approach was developed, and 

groups expanded, to respond to high numbers of 

people needing our service in a very short period as a 

consequence of the Taliban takeover in Afghanistan.

All intervention goals are based on the principles of 

recovery, which are the cornerstone of the Foundation 

House Integrated Trauma Recovery Service Model.

Direct services provided to clients are integrated with 

our work in training and professional development, 

community and sector development and health 

promotion – all of which aim to develop and strengthen 

the resources of clients, communities and service 

providers. All of this work informs our approach to 

systemic advocacy, which seeks to advance the health, 

wellbeing and human rights of people of refugee 

backgrounds.

Collaborative work with other agencies at the 

individual, family, community and systems levels is a 

key feature of our work. Survivors of torture and other 

traumatic events typically present with multiple needs 

reflecting the legacy of the human rights violations 

they have experienced before arrival in Australia, and 

the challenges of settlement, or life in Australia while 

rebuilding their lives or seeking asylum. 

RECOVERY GOALS
› Restore safety; enhance agency and control

› Restore secure attachments; promote connections to 

others; enhance a sense of belonging

› Restore meaning and purpose to life; rebuild identity; 

promote justice

› Restore dignity and value.
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WORLD MAP

TOP TEN COUNTRIES  
OF BIRTH OF CLIENTS

IRAQ

AFGHANISTAN

SUDAN AUSTRALIA

IRAN

PAKISTAN

SRI LANKA

BURMA (MYANMAR)

SYRIA

THAILAND

Note: Clients born in Australia are children of parents of refugee backgrounds.  
Clients born in Thailand are children of parents from Burma (Myanmar).
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CLIENT PROFILE
Our clients come from over 70 countries and are either 
permanent residents, asylum seekers or substantive 
(temporary) visa holders. The top five countries of 
origin were Afghanistan, Iraq, Burma (Myanmar), Iran 
and Sri Lanka (see Table 1). This reflects the Australian 
Humanitarian Program data over time, as some clients 
present for assistance many years after arrival in 
Australia. This year, the substantial number of clients 
from Afghanistan was largely influenced by the Taliban 
takeover of the country in August 2021, with Foundation 
House responding to extremely high demand from both 
the established Afghan community and new arrivals as 
part of the evacuation effort.

Of our 4,911 clients, 56% were female and 44% male,  
with 40% of our clients aged under 25 years. 

TABLE 1: COUNTRY OF BIRTH

COUNTRY OF BIRTH CLIENTS1

Afghanistan 1,770
Australia2 168
Bangladesh 10
Bosnia and Herzegovina 10
Burma (Myanmar) 448
Burundi 11
Cambodia 22
Congo 24
Congo, Democratic Republic of 23
Egypt 30
Eritrea 54
Ethiopia 87
India 30
Indonesia 11
Iran 436
Iraq 572
Lebanon 36
Liberia 12
Malaysia 64
Nepal 16

Pakistan 137

Somalia 57
South Sudan 60
Sri Lanka 199
Sudan 101
Syria 196
Thailand3 88
Tibet 15
Turkey 23
Ukraine 15
Vietnam 11
Other countries 175

Total 4,911

 
1    Clients are defined as individuals who actively received a service in 

2021–22.

2 Children born in Australia of parents of refugee backgrounds.

3 Children born of parents from Burma (Myanmar).

TABLE 2: AGE AND GENDER 
AGE IN 
YEARS FEMALE MALE NON- 

BINARY
TRANS- 
GENDER TOTAL

Unknown 24 10 34
0–<12 301 330 631
12–<19 371 386 2 759
19–<25 358 230 588
25–<35 476 380 2 858
35–<45 538 379 1 918
45–<55 341 237 1 579
55–<65 237 129 366
Over 65 104 74 178

Total 2,750 2,155 6 1 4,911

CLIENT EXPERIENCES
The pre-arrival experiences of our clients (Table 3) 

are characterised by exposure to violence and loss, 

persecution, perpetration of human rights violations and 

forced displacement. Clients of Foundation House have 

experienced many traumatic events prior to their arrival 

in Australia that affect their health, mental health and 

capacity to meet settlement challenges. The needs and 

presenting problems of clients are multiple and complex 

because their experiences of torture, trauma and 

systemic persecution are typically repeated over long 

periods of time. 

In the context of the 2021–22 financial year, 

the information in Table 3 is likely to be an 

underrepresentation. The COVID-19 context may have 

meant that pre-arrival experiences were disclosed at 

a lower rate than usual given the circumstances of 

the pandemic were so overwhelming. Further, where 

sessions needed to be held remotely via telehealth, this 

mode of assessment and counselling may have been 

less conducive to disclosures of trauma than in-person 

sessions.

An examination of the countries from which clients come 

indicates the long-term nature of conflict and human 

rights violations in those countries. Many children and 

young people have not known security and stability 

until their arrival in Australia. Our clients’ experiences of 

torture and other traumatic events are summarised in 

Table 3, and further to this are very common experiences 

of the death of, or forced separation from, immediate 

family members. Clients’ survival through such extreme 

adversity, bereavement and grief, and their commitment 

to rebuilding their lives and supporting their families, is a 

testimony to their strength and resilience.
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TABLE 3: PRE-ARRIVAL 
EXPERIENCES OF TORTURE AND 
OTHER TRAUMATIC EVENTS 

CATEGORY 0-17 
YEARS

18+ 
YEARS

Frequency at 
assessment

PHYSICAL VIOLENCE

Severe beating 5% 28%

Rape or other sexual assault 4% 14%

Other physical torture 9% 15%

Under combat fire 1% 9%

PSYCHOLOGICAL VIOLENCE

Dangerous flight 21% 35%

Death (or assumed death/
disappearance) of significant others 13% 18%

Forced separation from family 21% 28%

House raided 6% 13%

Kidnapping 2% 13%

Subject to mock executions <1% 4%

Harm/threat of harm to family 29% 45%

Witnessing others killed <1% 2%

Witnessing physical violence 18% 38%

Targeted harassment and 
discrimination 19% 28%

Other psychological trauma 19% 35%

HARDSHIP 

In hiding 7% 13%

Internal displacement 24% 32%

Deprivation and hardship, i.e. life-
threatening deprivation of food, 
shelter and medical attention 

18% 23%

Refugee camp 18% 19%

DETENTION: PRE-ARRIVAL

Detention – concentration camp <1% 1%

Detention – home detention 0% <1%

Legally sentenced – prison term 0% 1%

Summary (illegal) detention 0% 7%

IMPACT OF THE GLOBAL COVID-19 
PANDEMIC
The global COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect 
Foundation House clients, families, and communities 
across 2021–22. This was particularly so given the 
context of Melbourne COVID lockdown restrictions for 
most of the July–October 2021 period. Therapeutic 
work included a focus on COVID vaccination, health 
information sharing, and support and advocacy for 
clients who were sick with COVID. Many clients found 
that the lockdown restrictions re-triggered prior trauma, 
and many faced the death of their family members 
overseas due to COVID.

COVID infections among staff and their families, and 
changes in restrictions, continued to disrupt daily 
operations. These challenges were handled flexibly 
and creatively by staff who demonstrated exceptional 
commitment and care for clients and their families. 
Clients accessed Foundation House services face-to-
face or via telehealth – whichever was most suitable for 
their situation, with many clients continuing to be wary 
of meeting face-to-face even when restrictions eased.

While the transition to telehealth was challenging and 
the pivot initially energy-intensive, many clients adapted 
and rewards were observed, including increased access 
to counselling for those with mobility or transport 
issues, health concerns, or other challenges such as fear 
of leaving their home. 

A significant number of clients experienced mental 
health deterioration that was exacerbated by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Symptoms presenting included 
suicide ideation; self-harm, which in some cases involved 
hospitalisation; and school refusal for children and 
young people. The pandemic created many stressors 
for families such as home schooling for children, 
unemployment, financial problems and inadequate 
housing, which required intensive support and 
collaboration with other services to address. In addition, 
many families who had been looking forward to family 
reunification faced stress and disappointment as 
international borders remained closed for long periods.
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AFGHAN CRISIS AND COMMUNITY 
RESPONSE
Following the collapse of Afghanistan into Taliban 
control in August 2021, the Afghan Community 
Response (ACR) Project has been responding to 
the psycho-social and mental health needs of both 
newly arrived Afghan evacuees and existing Afghan 
communities in Victoria. The established community in 
Victoria were highly distressed by what was occurring, 
and many were deeply anxious about the safety of 
family members. Newly arrived evacuees came in large 
numbers direct from chaotic, dangerous and traumatic 
situations with little time to flee, arriving into unfamiliar 
quarantine arrangements.

In line with the Foundation House Integrated Trauma 
Recovery Service Model, the Afghan Community 
Response project is a three-pronged service delivery 
model providing psycho-social interventions in the 
following forms: 

• direct therapeutic service delivery to individuals, 
families and groups 

• community engagement and partnerships with 
community organisations 

• sector engagement and capacity building.

The Afghan Community Response Project team is 
comprised of Counsellor Advocates and Afghan 
Community Project Workers who work in collaboration 
to provide services to individual clients and groups in 
Foundation House offices, language schools, short-term 
accommodation where clients have been staying on 
arrival in Australia, and other community settings. To 
facilitate accessibility and to mitigate risks pertaining 
to COVID-19, individual and group programs have been 
provided through a range of face-to-face and online 
telehealth mediums. 

A short-term counselling model was developed to 
meet the needs of large number of referrals. The 
short-term six-session counselling service comprises 
of an assessment and intervention model targeted 
at addressing the psycho-social and mental health 
needs of individuals and families. Counselling goals 
are underpinned by the Foundation House Integrated 
Trauma Recovery Service Model, and co-created with 
clients addressing their presenting trauma-related 
symptoms and psycho-social needs. During counselling 
interventions, counsellors have been supporting clients 
with relevant emerging advocacy needs and relevant 
referrals to other support services, and co-joint work 
with Foundation House community project workers has 
been undertaken where appropriate. Counsellors have 
worked in close collaboration with settlement services 

and other community services to facilitate relevant 
supports and referrals for newly arrived Afghan clients. 

Psycho-education and information sessions have 
been held at various settings including Foundation 
House offices, Afghan community events, local council 
facilitated and hosted welcome fairs, community 
celebrations and in partnership with other community 
service organisations.  The sessions are designed to 
support stress management and to assist with the 
alleviation of trauma-related symptoms.

Foundation House has also formed close partnerships 
with several Victorian Afghan community organisations 
and groups to conduct psycho-social and psycho-
educational programs for Afghan communities 
in Victoria. The Afghan Women’s Wellbeing and 
Volleyball Group is one of these, where sessions are 
facilitated in partnership with United Cultural Support 
Inc., which provides an opportunity for women and 
girls to experience social connectivity and a sense 
of community while also increasing their physical 
wellbeing and confidence through sport. Each session 
also has a psycho-education component focusing 
on signs of deteriorating or poor mental health and 
avenues to seek help. Another women’s wellbeing and 
psycho-educational group run at our Dandenong office 
targets Afghan women who may be isolated or where 
individuals may not be ready for individual counselling. 

Counsellor Advocates and Afghan Community Project 
Workers have worked closely with language schools to 
provide secondary consultation and have co-facilitated 
a range of programs at schools to build the capacity 
of language schools in addressing the needs of newly 
arrived Afghan students and their families. These have 
included information sessions to support students, 
parents and schools and include delivery in partnership 
with other service providers. Targeted group programs 
have been delivered at various locations including Noble 
Park English Language School, Chisholm TAFE and 
Doveton College. 

Afghan Community Response staff have been 
partnering with both the Foundation House Education 
and Early Years team and the Practice Development 
and Learning team to deliver training and information 
sessions targeted at supporting education staff, service 
providers and community organisations in their work 
with the Afghan community.

The Afghan Community Response team has formed 
close partnerships with a range of Afghan community 
organisations such as Komak Uniting, Afghan Women’s 
Organisation in Victoria, Victorian Afghan Associations 
Network, Uniting Cultural Support Inc. and many others 
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in co-facilitating community programs, facilitating 
information stalls at cultural events and having an 
ongoing presence in the Southern Melbourne Afghan 
Advisory Group. 

A community advisory group was formed, including 
leaders from the existing community and emerging 
leaders from the cohort of newly arrived Afghans, to 
provide advice to the project regarding delivery of 
appropriate services for the community. The advisory 
group also highlights emerging issues from the 
community in relation to trauma and mental health so 
that appropriate responses can be considered. 

RESPONDING TO CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE, ADULTS AND FAMILIES 
Most children of refugee backgrounds have been 
subjected to or have witnessed events such as war, 
bombing or shelling, death or threat of violent death and 
injury of family or friends. All have experienced some 
degree of loss, from the loss of home, place and culture, 
and friendships to the more profound loss of parents, 
siblings and significant others. For those children and 
young people who arrive as unaccompanied minors, 
these losses can be even more profound.

On arrival in Australia, children and families are required 
to learn a new language, adapt to a new set of cultural 
norms, and orient themselves to a new and unfamiliar 
education system. Adaptation to school may be 
particularly difficult for those children who have had 
limited or no prior education experience. We continued 
to observe the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the ensuing lockdowns and restrictions upon children, 
young people, their families and communities as they 
struggled with isolation, issues of health, mental health, 
access to services and information, home schooling and 
family relationships.

The continuing political unrest and human rights 
abuses occurring in peoples’ home countries, such as 
the military coup in Burma (Myanmar) and the civil 
war in the Tigray region of Ethiopia and Eritrea, have a 
significant impact upon clients and communities here. 
Memories of their own trauma and struggles, concerns 
for family and friends, and experiencing feelings of 
helplessness exacerbate the stress and distress many 
clients were already feeling. For many families, the 
need to financially support loved ones and/or the cause 
overseas adds further pressures.

The Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 
displaced and forced many people to flee – mostly 
women and children. Approximately 4,000 of those 
displaced people have since arrived in Australia 

and join those who were already here as visitors 
or tourists. In partnership with national and state 
Ukrainian associations, Foundation House worked with 
government representatives, the wider refugee sector 
and other organisations to support access to, and the 
delivery of, vital services to assist these new arrivals and 
their community. 

In April 2021, Foundation House became a prescribed 
organisation under the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
and Management (MARAM) Framework – a statewide 
response addressing family violence. For the last 12 
months, the organisation has been embedding this 
framework into our policies and procedures and 
staff have undertaken training to increase awareness 
and skills in responding to family violence. This is a 
developmental process, and we are building strong 
relationships with the family violence sector to support 
the service system response to refugee and asylum 
seeker communities.

Ucan2

Ucan2 is an education and settlement program that 
includes opportunities for work experience and 
mentoring for young people aged 16–25 who have 
recently arrived in Australia. It focuses on:

• access to and engagement in education, training and 
employment

• mental health and wellbeing

• social connections and networks.

It is delivered one day per week for 16 weeks, in 
partnership with the Centre for Multicultural Youth and 
education and community organisations.

Ucan2 delivered flexible and nuanced support to young 
people throughout 2021–22 and this was particularly 
challenging in the context of pandemic lockdowns and 
the return to face-to-face learning and service delivery. 
The Department of Home Affairs extended funding 
for 12 months until 30 June 2023, ensuring Ucan2 can 
continue to provide support to young people and 
education providers in continuing or re-establishing 
their goals.

Throughout the 2021–22 financial year, 18 Ucan2 groups 
were delivered in eight education and community 
settings across Melbourne to 308 participants from 29 
countries. In collaboration with the Afghan Community 
Response team, Ucan2 piloted four short group 
programs in response to the high demand for mental 
health and wellbeing support for the newly arrived from 
Afghanistan.
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Our delivery site partners in 2021–22 included:

• AMES Australia (Noble Park, Dandenong)

• Chisholm TAFE (Dandenong, Berwick, Cranbourne)

• Kangan TAFE Institute (Broadmeadows)

• Melbourne Polytechnic (Epping)

• Mooroolbark College (Mooroolbark)

• Noble Park English Language School (Casey, Noble 
Park)

• Refugee Minor Program (Dept of Families, Fairness 
and Housing)

• Staughton College (Melton).

The program hosted one Ucan2 graduate in Term 
4, 2021, for a placement studying the Diploma of 
Community Services.

The Ucan2 Business Partnerships team successfully 
developed and implemented the Employment 
Engagement Project as a direct response to the impact 
of COVID-19 for 2020–21. Our innovative approach to 
providing practical solutions to increase young people’s 
confidence and employability skills was pivotal during 
COVID-19. This initiative continued for the 2021–22 
period, with some outstanding outcomes for the young 
people. We have established new partnerships with an 
employment agency, which will continue to provide a 
wealth of opportunities for the next period. 

The mentoring program, which for over 12 years has 
been delivered face-to-face, was adapted to pilot an 
online version. The feedback was extremely positive, 
with engagement from a variety of sectors and several 
young people. This approach enabled us to deliver a 
quality program to many young people with mentors 
who were easily accessible. A hybrid version is planned 
to be delivered with our partners in 2022–23. 

The Ucan2 Business Partnerships team continues to 
engage with young people to provide individual support 
to update and write resumés and cover letters. The 
support provided enabled them to engage in online 
employment services independently. This has included 
online job applications, access to job links, and access 
and referral to free TAFE courses. Job searching and 
careers workshops were developed and delivered to 
provide tailored information to meet the current and 
future needs of young people. Training to increase 
computer literacy has been a major focus of this project, 
which allows young people to develop the skills and 
confidence to be able to job search independently. 
Employment outcomes for these young people have 

increased significantly, with high levels of engagement 
in the offering, and increased opportunities to access 
work.

The team’s longstanding relationship with Australia Post 
continues to provide employment opportunities, with 
30 young people accessing casual work throughout 
2021–22, including casual positions over the busy festive 
period. As a direct result, several young people have 
gained ongoing employment with Australia Post and 
others have gained experience to access a broad range 
of jobs across many sectors.

RESPONDING TO PEOPLE SEEKING 
ASYLUM
People seeking asylum require an approach to 
counselling and support that considers a complex 
and changing policy environment, lengthy delays in 
processing and appeal times to determine protection 
claims, increasingly reduced access to supports to meet 
their basic needs, and access to legal representation to 
assist them.

For those who arrived without a valid visa, 2021–22 
maintained an environment of uncertainty and few 
options for permanent resolutions to their situations, 
with only Temporary Protection Visas being offered 
to those found to be refugees, or prolonged legal 
processes that have ensured ongoing periods of 
separation from family overseas. Many clients who were 
medevacked from offshore detention sites on Nauru 
and Manus Island and were found to be refugees by the 
Nauruan and PNG governments still face the uncertainty 
of never being granted a permanent visa in Australia.

We continue to receive referrals for people of refugee 
backgrounds in immigration detention who have had 
their permanent visas cancelled due to serving a prison 
sentence for 12 or more months. Some arrived here as 
refugees with their families when they were very young, 
and if they had obtained citizenship prior, they would 
not be in this situation. We also receive referrals for 
those who have had their permanent visas cancelled 
due to having their claims for protection reviewed 
when they applied for citizenship and failed to have this 
reinstated on appeal. 

Foundation House works closely with a range of other 
agencies to address the pressing needs of our clients, 
including securing access to legal assistance for 
protection applications and/or appeals. 
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COMPLEMENTARY THERAPIES
In 2021–22, the Complementary Therapies team 
continued to provide natural therapies to clients 
across the five metropolitan sites. Similarly to 2020–21, 
creative approaches were needed given the restrictions 
necessary in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 
the second half of 2021, sessions were predominantly 
online or outside, with increased onsite service delivery 
from early 2022.

We were delighted to be able to complete an evaluation 
of our program with the support of the Jacka 
Foundation for Natural Therapies, with a celebratory 
launch of the final report a resounding success.

The launch was the culmination of two years work 
planning and conducting this evaluation. The 
Complementary Therapies program at Foundation 
House is a rare example of an integrated, multimodality 
complementary therapies service operating in a 
specialised mental health, torture and trauma service. 

The evaluation consultants developed the evaluation 
design in conjunction with the  team and the key 
evaluation questions were:

• What are the outcomes of complementary therapies 
for clients?

• In what ways are complementary therapies relevant 
and appropriate to clients’ needs?

• How can we achieve even better outcomes for 
clients?

Feedback was collected directly from clients via 
individual interviews and focus groups.

The summary findings were:

• Clients experience positive outcomes from 
complementary therapies, beyond relief of physical 
pain and symptoms. Clients reported positive 
impacts on their social, emotional and mental 
wellbeing. Additionally, complementary therapies 
improve client agency.

• The Complementary Therapies service is relevant 
and appropriate to the clients it treats at Foundation 
House. Complementary therapies add value to the 
counselling service and are culturally meaningful and 
accessible for many clients.

• Most clients were overwhelmingly positive about 
their service experience with the Complementary 
Therapies team, with resourcing constraints the 
biggest barrier to achieving even better services  
for clients. 

There are almost no other free or low-cost 
complementary therapies available for refugees or 
asylum seekers in Australia. Foundation House provides 
a significant, beneficial service that is not otherwise 
available to this client group.

RURAL AND REGIONAL SERVICES
It has been a great relief for the services we partner 
with in rural and regional Victoria to resume seeing 
clients face-to-face, offer group work activities, and for 
the capacity building projects in Geelong and Bendigo 
to begin to meet with their advisory groups in person. 
Both of these regions have seen an increase in referrals 
for counselling, likely linked to the capacity building 
work, training and the community advisors’ abilities to 
raise awareness around trauma and its affects in their 
communities. 

2022 has seen the recommencement of the 
Humanitarian Program, and rural providers are 
receiving many new referrals as a result. There are new 
opportunities for collaborative work in the planning with 
other settlement providers and mental health services. 
For example, in Bendigo, Headspace and the Torture 
Trauma Counselling team are piloting an outreach 
program at a secondary school and a TAFE. 

Adult group work activities have recommenced as has 
face-to-face training and professional development, 
with a noticeable increase in training requests since 
lockdowns finished. While the pandemic continues to 
provide challenges, our rural providers over the past 
year have consistently delivered high-quality services 
to individuals and communities of refugee backgrounds 
living in their towns and regional centres.

A huge thanks to our partner agencies Barwon Child 
Youth & Family Geelong, Bendigo Community Health 
Service, Primary Care Connect Shepparton and Catholic 
Care Mildura. 

We would like to acknowledge the impressive work of 
Rural Australians for Refugees, and other volunteer 
groups in Swan Hill, Bendigo and Ballarat. These 
volunteers provide outstanding support and advocacy 
to many individuals, and families
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Our approach to strengthening community capacity 
recognises the legacy of persecution and trauma, supports 
communities and individuals to regain control and to build 
new connections, and provides channels for communities 
to identify their priorities and issues in resettlement, and to 
build positive futures. 

In 2021–22, the Community Capacity Building program 
comprised three teams: the Capacity Building (CaB) team, 
the Mental Health Promotion team and the COVID Mental 
Health Response Project (CMHRP) team. Together, these 
form the Community team. Our work during 2021–22 
continued to be informed by the need to respond to the 
ongoing impacts of the pandemic, including waves of 
surging COVID-19 infections, and the resulting impacts 
on people’s physical, social, and emotional health and 
wellbeing. Within this context, promoting opportunities 
for connection and addressing social isolation remained a 
priority for the Community team.

THE CAPACITY BUILDING (CAB) TEAM
Communities represented in the CaB team are from Syria 
and Iraq, Burma (Myanmar) – Karen and Chin, and Sierra 
Leone. The CaB team has been together for over 14 years, 
led by Susie Strehlow as Team Leader, and is funded 
through the Commonwealth Program of Assistance 
for Survivors of Torture and Trauma (PASTT). The Chin 
Community Project Worker employed in the Chin Family 
Strengthening Project in 2020, and funded by Portland 
House, continued in the CaB team until the project’s 
completion in December 2021. 

THE MENTAL HEALTH  
PROMOTION TEAM
This team, led by Giovanna Citta, incorporates the 
Mental Health Literacy Project, employing Community 
Project Workers from the Syrian and Iraqi communities, 
Chin, Karen, and South Sudanese communities; the 
Low Intensity Peer Mental Health Support program for 
the Iraqi and Syrian community members residing in 
the northern and western regions of Melbourne; and 
oversight of the implementation of Foundation House’s 
Integrated Health Promotion Plan. The Low Intensity Peer 
Mental Health Support program, funded by the North 

Western Melbourne Primary Health Network, employed 
two Peer Workers and a Bicultural Project Coordinator to 
deliver the project and was completed in December 2021. 

THE COVID MENTAL HEALTH 
RESPONSE PROJECT (CMHRP) TEAM
In June 2020, Foundation House received funding 
from the Victorian Department of Health and Human 
Services and the Commonwealth Department of Health 
to develop a response to the mental health needs 
arising from the social, psychological, and economic 
consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on individuals, 
families, and communities of refugee backgrounds. 
Funding for the project was extended by the Department 
of Health in 2021 until the end of June 2022. The project 
was staffed by a team of six Counsellor Advocates and 
five Community Project Workers from the Afghan, South 
Sudanese, Chin and Karen communities, with Maria Tucci 
as Project Leader. In September 2021, following the fall 
of Kabul, the two Afghan Community Project Workers 
transitioned from the project to the newly established 
Afghan Community Response team.

ACHIEVEMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS 
OF THE WORK OF THE COMMUNITY 
TEAM IN 2021–22
Engaging with communities to develop responses aligned 
with the needs and issues identified by community 
members was central to work across all of our teams 
in 2021–22. This included ongoing consultations with 
both formal and informal community leaders, working 
with advisory groups on specific projects, and with 
Community Advisors in co-developing service responses 
to the ongoing mental health and wellbeing impacts 
of COVID-19, and to specific issues of concern to 
communities.

Alongside community engagement and consultation, 
group work remained a core activity of the Community 
team in 2021–22, offering community members 
opportunities to come together to celebrate, support 
and share with each other, and facilitating access to 
information about and connection to services and 

COMMUNITY  
CAPACITY BUILDING
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resources. With the easing of COVID-19 restrictions in 
early 2022, the opportunity to participate in face-to-face 
group programs once again following months of online 
meetings was enthusiastically welcomed by communities.

THE CAPACITY BUILDING (CAB) 
TEAM
In 2021–22, the CaB team continued its work with 
communities from Sierra Leone, Syria, Iraq, and the 
Chin and Karen communities from Burma (Myanmar). 
An ongoing part of this work has involved group work 
with multiple communities, promoting connection and 
mutual support, and providing a context for community 
members to raise issues of concern and to develop 
community-led responses for addressing these. 
Alongside working with communities, the CaB team 
continued to work with service providers to enhance their 
understanding of and their capacity to respond to the 
needs of communities. 

Achievements and highlights include:

• The Chin Family Strengthening Project took place 
throughout 2021, funded by the Portland House 
Foundation. The project identified issues that 
contribute to intergenerational challenges facing 
Chin families in their resettlement, strategies for 
addressing these and for strengthening families and 
community to build intergenerational understanding. 
The project established an advisory group 
representative of the rich diversity of the community 
across the east and west of Melbourne, with 16 Chin 
community members, representing the nine Chin 
tribal groups, as well as gender and age diversity. 
Meeting monthly throughout 2021, the advisory 
group provided community voice into the project 
and shaped its direction, as well as co-designing the 
strategies involved in working to strengthen families 
and community to reduce the intergenerational gap. 

One of first project activities included two bowling 
days: one in Melbourne’s east and another in the 
west, bringing the community together in a shared 
experience of fun and challenge, and inclusive of 
children, young people, parents and elders. Both days 
were very successful in achieving the aim of sharing 
between generations, in an activity that brought much 
fun, laughter and joy, as well as learning. 

The project identified a broad range of strategies to 
support and strengthen families and community, and 
to build intergenerational understanding. Examples 
include working directly with young people, working 
in schools with teachers, parents and students, 
supporting the development of culturally sensitive 
parenting information, increasing mental health 

literacy, and providing training for community leaders. 
The project partnered with the Foundation House 
Education and Early Years team in its work with 
schools and with the community.

The project encountered two significant challenges. 
The first was that for much of 2021 we were in COVID 
lockdown, and while most of our activities were 
able to be run online, there were some activities 
that needed to be postponed until they could be 
run face-to-face. The second challenge was that the 
military coup in Burma (Myanmar) in February 2021 
created enormous distress for the whole community. 
In response, the project’s focus included learning from 
the community how best to support it in dealing with 
the impact of the violence occurring in Chin State 
and the flow-on effects for families and community 
here, alongside engaging with schools and service 
providers to strengthen their understanding of these 
impacts, and how schools and service providers might 
support community members. 

Although the funding from Portland House has come 
to an end, the Capacity Building team will continue to 
focus on family and intergenerational strengthening 
work with the Chin community that builds on the work 
of the project.

• The Karen Elders Life Documentation Project 
involved interviewing 16 respected Karen Elders 
and Leaders, documenting key aspects of their 
life stories. The outcome is a booklet printed in 
Karen language. In a community where much of the 
history is oral, the production of a written record 
is a valuable resource not only to the Karen here, 
but also to the wider global Karen community. 
The booklet was launched in August 2022. The 
project began with a group of Karen and Karenni 
Elders meeting regularly for social support and 
connection. Over time, members began to share 
within the group memories of the very difficult and 
painful experiences they had been through as young 
people while participating in the Karen struggle for 
self-determination. For many, it was the first time 
they were able to share with others the pain of their 
memories of their early years in Burma (Myanmar). It 
is the participants’ hope that their stories will assist 
younger generations of Karen to better understand 
the history and experiences of their Elders, and the 
suffering and trauma they endured. It was the Elders’ 
hope that this history would never be repeated. 
Unfortunately, the 2021 military coup and its impact 
on the ethnic minorities has dashed these hopes and 
brought to the fore memories of past trauma. 
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THE MENTAL HEALTH PROMOTION 
TEAM 
In 2021–22, the Mental Health and Wellbeing Promotion 
(MHWP), and Mental Health Literacy programs delivered 
mental health information and practical activities to 
strengthen community wellbeing, and to increase mental 
health literacy for newly arrived refugee communities 
including children, young people and their families. The 
programs have a preventative/early intervention focus, 
with the aim of sharing information to increase awareness 
of and knowledge about mental health services and ways 
to support one’s mental health and wellbeing.

In 2022 the MHWP expanded, with a focus on reaching 
into the Chin, Karen and South Sudanese communities 
residing in the settlement areas of western, eastern and 
south-eastern metropolitan Melbourne. Advisory groups 
are an integral part of the MHWP, and this partnership 
between Foundation House staff and the advisory group 
supports the community engagement strategies for 
delivery of the project, ensuring that each component 
of the program is codeveloped with and culturally 
appropriate for each community.

Achievements and highlights include:

• The establishment of advisory groups with members 
of the Chin (16 advisors) and Karen (12 advisors) 
communities. The Chin and Karen advisory groups are 
comprised of advisors from across the metropolitan 
regions and of diverse cultural and language backgrounds, 
age, gender and recency of arrival in Australia. 

• Two mental health wellbeing workshops were delivered 
for Chin Advisors, facilitated by a Chin-background 
psychologist. The workshops covered: ‘What is mental 
health and wellbeing, and mental illness?’, signs and 
symptoms of depression, anxiety, PTSD and accessing 
supports. Advisors provided positive feedback, stating 
the sessions were extremely informative, interactive 
and culturally relevant.

• Two yoga programs (five weeks) were delivered 
face-to-face in the Chaldean language for Chaldean 
women residing in the North, as part of the team’s 
work in the Integrated Health Promotion Plan. The 
Bicultural Worker facilitated conversations in relation to 
mental health at the end of each session and provided 
Arabic translated resources on COVID-19, and mental 
health information and services. Many of the women 
stated that the sessions were extremely beneficial in 
supporting them to reduce stress, pain and tension, 
that it was their first experience with yoga, and that 
they would like the program to continue.

• A weekly Muslim women’s group was established 
for the Shia community. Mental health topics that 
incorporated self-care practical activities were 

delivered in the Arabic language. Topics covered 
included: mental health and wellbeing, depression and 
anxiety, stress and stress management, women’s roles 
and expectations, family pressures, self-care strategies, 
family separation, isolation and parenting. Each session 
incorporated yoga, which the women stated had 
been a valuable coping strategy. One woman stated: 
‘It brings relief from our psychological pressures.’ The 
group provided valuable connection and support for 
women who are isolated and struggling with their 
mental health. 

• Online and face-to-face one-off mental health and 
wellbeing sessions were delivered for Chaldean young 
people’s groups and Arabic women’s groups. These 
sessions have encouraged conversations around 
mental health wellbeing and provided information 
about mental health supports for  
group participants.

THE COVID MENTAL HEALTH 
RESPONSE (CMHR) PROJECT TEAM
The COVID Mental Health Response (CMHR) project 
commenced in July 2020 and was initially funded to 
the end of September 2021. Additional funding was 
then received from the Department of Health allowing 
continuation of the project until the end of June 2022. 
Key project achievements in 2021–22 relate to the 
project’s varied and extensive ongoing community 
engagement, group work, resource development and 
tailored service responses to support the mental health 
and wellbeing of community members in the context of 
the COVID pandemic.

Achievements and highlights include:

• In 2021, the project established a South Sudanese 
Young Advisors Group, to consult and advise on the 
needs and priorities of South Sudanese young people 
and to co-develop service responses to address needs. 
Foundation House has been successful in securing 
targeted funding from the Office for Youth for 2021–
22 to further develop program activities for South 
Sudanese young people, allowing for expansion of t 
he work.

 In 2021, the Young Advisors Group, together with 
CMHR project staff of South Sudanese background, led 
four consultations with young people in Melbourne’s 
west. The consultations identified four priority areas 
for young people: Places for celebrating cultural 
identity, cultural conversations and belonging; Building 
young people’s self-awareness, self-esteem and self-
confidence; Promoting opportunities for conversations 
and activities that contribute to improved mental 
health and wellbeing; and Education and employment 
pathways.
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 The South Sudanese Young People’s Development 
and Support Program, initiated by the project 
and Young Advisors Group, has since expanded 
beyond its original focus on young people of 
South Sudanese background and has evolved to 
include young people of other African Australian 
backgrounds. It has been renamed Supporting 
the Capacity of African Australian Young People’s 
Program. The Young Advisors are collaborating 
with a local African Australian youth-led initiative, 
Shooters Shoot, to develop and deliver a series 
of program activities with a mental health and 
wellbeing focus, directly linked to what they 
determined to be the top two priority areas 
emerging from the 2021 consultations: Building 
South Sudanese young people’s self-awareness, 
self-esteem and self-confidence and Promoting 
conversations and activities that contribute to 
mental health and wellbeing. Planning for and 
delivery of a program of activities has commenced, 
supported by CMHR project staff of South Sudanese 
background, and with a focus on social media, 
creative arts, and sports-based activities with young 
people. This includes podcasts involving candid 
conversations about mental health, school-based 
basketball-themed workshops across Melbourne, 
a basketball tournament planned for late 2022, 
and creative storytelling, documentation, and 
videography workshops with young people of 
African Australian backgrounds. It is envisaged this 
program of activities will continue throughout 2022.

• Co-design and development of resources with 
community members as advisors, to improve 
understanding of and access to information about 
mental health – a highlight being the production of 
in-language videos on mental health in collaboration 
with Chin community members. In 2021, the Chin 
Community Project Worker and a small group of 
Chin community advisors planned and produced 
a series of four videos in Hakha Chin on the topic 
‘Let’s talk about mental health’. The videos featured 
discussions between prominent Chin community 
members, including a theologian and mental health 
clinicians based in Burma (Myanmar), the US and 
Australia, on cultural understandings of mental 
health and wellbeing. The videos have been widely 
distributed among Chin community networks in 
Australia and overseas.

• A hallmark of the CMHR project has been facilitating 
group programs responsive to participants’ identified 
needs and preferences and that support mental 
health and wellbeing. Group programs have involved 
Community Project Workers working alongside 
Counsellor Advocates to develop and co-facilitate 
groups. Multiple groups with children and young 
people were facilitated in primary schools, secondary 

schools, and English Language Centres in 2021–22. 
In addition, several community-specific groups were 
facilitated with Afghan, South Sudanese, Chin and 
Karen community participants. The final group event 
occurred on the last day of the project, 30 June, with 
a joyous outing of 47 Chin parents and children to 
the Royal Botanic Gardens – the first excursion for 
most since the start of the pandemic in 2020.

COVID VACCINATION PROJECT 
The ongoing process of information sharing of the high 
volume of COVID-19-related information with refugee 
communities has been key to our work. Community team 
staff played an important role in distributing information 
to communities, advocating for translated material in 
multiple languages to reach all community members, 
checking translated materials for accuracy, at times 
translating information to ensure it reached community 
members in a timely way, as well as countering 
misinformation. 

The COVID-19 Vaccine Working Group was established 
in mid-2021 in response to anxiety and vaccine hesitancy 
expressed by members of refugee-background 
communities represented by community advisors. By 
September 2021, the work initiated by the group had 
developed into a discrete project. Our project was one 
of the broader Engagement and Partnerships programs 
funded by Department of Health and Department of 
Families, Fairness and Housing to increase the uptake 
of vaccinations using the Ambassador Program, and 
funding case management approaches such as the 
model we proposed. The project employed casual 
Bicultural Workers from the Karenni, Rohingya, Oromo, 
Syrian, Tamil and Eritrean communities, supported 
by a Vaccination Project Coordinator from within the 
Community team.

As well as directly supporting and assisting community 
members to access vaccinations, the project organised 
multiple vaccine Q&A community sessions in 
collaboration with the Department of Health and the 
Water Wells Project, targeting refugee-background 
communities across Melbourne.

The Community team also produced a number 
of videos with messaging to support COVIDSafe 
behaviours, demonstrating how to take a Rapid Antigen 
Test, and to provide information about vaccinations 
so that community members could make informed 
decisions. Some videos were produced specifically for a 
community, with respected community members/leaders 
to ‘spread the word’ so that community was talking to 
community, while others were not community specific 
but with 15 languages recorded as voiceovers, so the 
messaging reached multiple communities. 
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In 2021–22, the Practice and Sector Development (PSD) 
Program continued to focus on improving and expanding 
its services and programs, supporting internal staff to 
develop their professional practice and continuing to 
grow in its sector capacity building role.

As well as working with the cumulative effects of the 
pandemic on workforces and sectors, we had to respond 
to the wellbeing and workforce development needs 
of practitioners and leaders dealing with responses to 
several crises around the world, including in Afghanistan 
and Ukraine, and reforms to the mental health system 
in Victoria. In the sectors that we support, we have 
seen significant demand for professional learning and 
consultancy in trauma-informed practice, particularly in 
the areas of trauma-informed leadership in organisations 
and in survivor communities.

PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT AND 
LEARNING (PDL)
Over the year PDL provided: 

• 208 Internal Group Reflective Supervision sessions

• 708 Internal Individual Reflective Supervision 
sessions

• 56 Internal Specialist Consultation sessions

• 127 Professional Development and Learning sessions

• Training to 2,084 Professional Learning participants.

New and updated professional learning modules  
and resources: 

• Trauma-Informed Practice: An Organisational 
Systems Approach to Supporting Recovery

• Trauma-Informed Practice for Managers and Leaders

• Psychotherapeutic Group Work 

• Reflective Supervision 

• Comprehensive Assessment Planning Workshops

• Interpreter Mediated Work Video

• Mental Status Examination Video

• Counselling and Psychotherapy for Survivors  
of Trauma Blended

• Trauma-Focused Assessment and Formulation 
Blended 

• Refugee and Asylum-Seeking Experiences Online.

PARTNERSHIPS
We have partnered with several agencies across 
areas including youth justice, people seeking asylum, 
settlement support, community and public health, 
maternity and infant health, child and youth mental 
health, and legal support, to enhance the skills and 
knowledge of individual practitioners, organisations  
and systems. 

PDL’s work with external agencies is informed by 
the Foundation House Integrated Trauma Recovery 
Framework and Practice Development Framework, 
Rebuilding Shattered Lives (2nd Edition), and includes 
organisational consultancy, tailored professional learning, 
specialist practice consultations, reflective supervision, 
reflective practice and e-learning. 

PORTLAND HOUSE

Thanks to the generosity and support of the Portland 
House Foundation, we were able to undertake a project 
to develop our capacity to expand our program of 
professional development, consultancy services and 
supervision to workers in the field across a range of 
organisations and service systems with respect to 
improved trauma-informed and trauma-focused practice. 

The review of our program identified increased 
recognition by governments and service providers 
for the need to ensure wider appreciation of trauma-
informed practice in the mental health and wellbeing 
sectors. The impact of this is evidenced by a significant 
year-on-year increase in the proportion of tailored 
professional learning requests received focused on 
trauma-informed practice. This not only demonstrates 
a growing awareness and prioritisation by services for 
their staff and systems to be trauma-informed, but it is 
also evidence of Foundation House’s positioning in the 
sector as a key provider of trauma-informed professional 
learning services. 

PRACTICE AND SECTOR 
DEVELOPMENT
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CENTRE FOR MENTAL HEALTH LEARNING (CMHL)

Foundation House has developed a strong partnership 
with CMHL. A memorandum of understanding was 
signed between CMHL and Foundation House to pilot 
a trauma-informed leadership program with five Area 
Mental Health Services with a total of 25 managers to 
participate over 2022 and 2023. Due to the demands 
for the leadership program, the Department of Health, 
has agreed to fund Foundation House to deliver the 
program with an additional five Area Mental Health 
Services in 2023.

RESEARCH AND EVALUATION

The Foundation House research and evaluation program 
continued to grow, with some exciting and innovative 
projects internally and with our research partners.

The Practice, Innovation and Knowledge group 
continued to oversee the research program. The 
function of the group is to review external and internal 
research and evaluation projects, in order to ensure that 
research proposals meet methodological and ethical 
requirements. Foundation House also has an Institutional 
Ethics Committee with the following members:

• Dr Dick Sloman (Chair) 

• Fr Andrew Hamilton 

• Prof Helen Herrman 

• Jill Jameson 

• Dr Caroline Lambert 

• David Manne 

• Prof Rhonda Small 

• Dr Peter Streker.

SNAPSHOT OF RESEARCH AND EVALUATIONS 
PROJECTS

Evaluation of complementary therapies, Heidi Wegner 
and Jenny Adams, Foundation House

Community leadership training program, Cecilia Lopez, 
Charlie Dean and Renzo Vittorino, Foundation House and 
Victoria University

Evaluating a phase-based intervention for PTSD in 

refugees, Angela Nickerson, Foundation House and 
University of New South Wales

Access to justice during COVID-19 for newly arrived 

migrant and refugee communities in Victoria, Jennifer 
Balint, University of Melbourne

EDUCATION AND EARLY YEARS 
(EEY)

REFUGEE EDUCATION SUPPORT PROGRAM 
(RESP)

Similar to last year, the RESP cycle ended with an 
adapted online professional learning delivery and 
planning program. The program completed the cycle 
with 29 schools engaged across five cluster areas of 
Whittlesea, Brimbank, Casey/Greater Dandenong, 
Mooroolbark and Bendigo. 

The online program included:

• Six half-day professional learning workshops with 
128 participants

• 173 meetings and/or consultations during a six-
month period

• Three of the clusters: Whittlesea, Brimbank and 
Bendigo, completed the program as one large 
network with great success.

• Three cluster regions: Brimbank, Whittlesea and 
Mooroolbark, had the opportunity to showcase their 
learnings and practice at two face-to-face events (74 
participants and 13 schools in attendance). 

Foundation House and Centre for Multicultural Youth 
(CMY), with the support of the Department of Education 
(DET), Catholic Education Commission of Victoria 
(CECV) and Independent Schools Victoria (ISV), 
produced and co-authored an internal RESP manual for 
facilitating partners. This document was developed to 
support and improve the delivery of the RESP program in 
the future. 

A new approach to scoping for the 2022–23 RESP round 
was developed. Foundation House and CMY hosted three 
information sessions, attended by 104 school leaders, 
resulting in 89 consultations or partnership agreement 
meetings. This resulted in the 2022–23 round including 
36 action teams from 31 schools across cluster regions of 
Casey/Cardinia, Wyndham/Hobsons Bay, Melton, Hume 
and Wodonga. 

The new cycle of RESP has involved a hybrid approach to 
service delivery. This has included:

• five online professional learning sessions 

• five face-to-face professional learning sessions

• 281 participants 

• 180 secondary consultations with participating 
schools
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• 1,600 staff across 36 schools completing a survey 
on staff competencies in supporting students and 
families of refugee backgrounds 

• 215 students participated school-based consultations 
to identify areas for school improvement.

In response to growing needs in schools, the Education 
and Early Years team began running individual and 
group-based programs in collaboration with the Direct 
Services team. This ‘wraparound’ service included 
counselling, therapeutic advocacy, socio-emotional 
and psycho-educational groups, involvement in Ucan2 
program, school support planning, and community 
liaison and connection work with refugee communities.

SCHOOLS SUPPORT PROGRAM (SSP)

The SSP used a hybrid model of online and face-to-
face delivery of professional learning and secondary 
consultations. Over the last 12 months the program 
delivered:

• 15 ‘Calendar’ professional learning workshops with 
538 participants 

• 18 in-school or tailored professional learning sessions 
to 913 school staff 

• 151 secondary consultations to schools 

• support to 147 schools were involved with the 
Schools Support Program through Professional 
Learning (PL) Workshops and Secondary 
Consultations – including 98 Government, 44 
Catholic and five Independent schools

• professional learning workshops to 486 staff from 
124 schools as part of the Afghan Community 
Response activities.

An online resource has been developed that addresses 
the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers and 
the Trauma Recovery Goals. The resource was officially 

launched in Term 1 2022 and uploaded to School’s in 

For Refugees website. This resource enables teachers 
to demonstrate how their work in supporting improved 
outcomes and trauma recovery aligns to the standards 
and demonstrates their professional growth. 

Specifically, the conflicts in Afghanistan and Burma 
(Myanmar) adversely impacted schools, as students 
and families experienced high levels of distress. In 2021, 
Foundation House promptly responded with professional 
events and digital resources to support school staff 
responding to distressed students and families while 
in a remote learning environment. In 2022, an online 

professional learning event titled Supporting Newly 
Arrived Students and Families from Ukraine was held to 
support schools across Melbourne and regional Victoria. 
This was delivered and developed in partnership with 
Catholic Education Commission Victoria (CECV). 

MULTICULTURAL EDUCATION AIDE SUPPORT 
PROGRAM (MEASP)

Our work with Multicultural Education Aides (MEA) and 
bicultural staff in schools has continued in 2021–22. We 
continued to support six MEA networks in Wyndham, 
Geelong, Casey/Greater Dandenong, Hume, Brimbank/
Melton and Bendigo. The MEASP team designed and 
delivered 17 online Professional Learning events for 
MEAs and school leaders supporting MEAs. A total of 
776 MEAs/Bicultural Workers participated, representing 
117 schools.

Foundation House facilitated 21 online MEA Network 
meetings with a total of 339 school staff participating 
and representing 80 Victorian schools: 64 Government, 
14 Catholic and one Independent school.

MEASP produced nine resources to support MEAs/

bicultural staff working in schools, including Building on 

MEA Experiences, a video resource which includes four 
short videos of MEAs sharing good practices.

During the second half of 2021, the MEASP program 
provided mentoring support for Chin MEAs as a RESP 
school in the West. This was conducted in collaboration 
with staff from the Chin Family Strengthening Project 
and MEAs/Bicultural Staff from the Melton/Brimbank 
Network. Support of MEAs at the school culminated in 
facilitating a community and cultural awareness session 
for school staff. Two further professional learning 
workshops in the west were facilitated by staff across 
EEY and the Chin Family Strengthening Project. 

EARLY YEARS PROGRAM

Early Years Communities of Practice (CoP) were 
facilitated in Bendigo, Wyndham (Truganina/
Tarneit) and Casey (Hampton Park). All three CoP 
projects are achieving high outcomes, especially in 
the establishment of partnerships between member 
services in the three sites. 

The Wyndham (Truganina/Tarneit) and Casey (Hampton 
Park) CoPs are working in collaboration with the RESP 
and SSP. These two CoPs have begun working on a 
highly innovative combined Collective Action Project, 
which aims to increase knowledge in the Early Years 
sector about the work of Bicultural Workers.
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The Early Years team delivered:

• 24 Tailored Professional Learning workshops

• 11 ‘Calendar’ Professional Learning sessions to 191 
participants 

• 135 secondary consultations.

Foundation House established a Community Advisory 
Group in 2021 via an Early Years Navigators Model, which 
was facilitated in partnership with Melbourne Polytechnic 
and finalised in June 2022. This enabled the collection of 
community advice about maternal and child health and 
kindergarten, which highlighted the need for improved 
information and access into these services for refugee-
background families. 

In October 2021, the Early Starts Kindergarten (ESK) 
outreach commenced. This aims to support the roll-out 
of Early Starts Kinder access for refugee and asylum 
seeker children. The ESK project continues to build 
relationships with LGAs, services across education, 
settlement, community and health agencies.

VICTORIAN REFUGEE HEALTH 
NETWORK (VRHN)
The vision of the Victorian Refugee Health Network (‘the 
Network’) is that ‘Victorians from refugee backgrounds, 
including those seeking asylum, have timely access to 
appropriate services and other resources required to 
build and maintain health and wellbeing.’

This year, the Network conducted three statewide 
meetings for health professionals and related working 
groups across Victoria. The forums included specialist 
speakers and covered topics such as COVID-19 health 
protection updates, mental health reform, state and 
national policy updates, research in the sector and 
refugee advocacy. 

The Network regularly attended local refugee health 
network meetings across Victoria to remain up to 
date on sector-wide issues and to provide support 
and networking for greater sector collaboration and 
coordination, contributing to the work of our national 
network, the Refugee Health Network of Australia. 

The Network continues to gather and disseminate key 
resources and information relating to refugee health and 
wellbeing via the website and an eBulletin, which goes 
out to approximately 1,500 subscribers. The eBulletin 
provides information on professional development 
training opportunities, departmental public health 
messaging including COVID-19, and other opportunities 
relevant for the refugee and asylum seeker community in 
Victoria. Every quarter, the Network also publishes a Data 

Bulletin primarily drawn from Commonwealth Settlement 
datasets, and more recently including data on asylum 
seeker numbers in Victoria. 

We also provide secretariat and coordination support for 
the Program for Refugee Immunisation, Monitoring and 
Education (PRIME), which aims to promote immunisation 
and deliver catch-up vaccinations to refugees and people 
seeking asylum, including COVID-19 vaccination.

ADVOCACY 

Influencing and informing state and federal policy and 
practice is an ongoing priority for the Network. The 
Network does this by harnessing the expertise of the 
health sector and the community to identify and respond 
to systemic issues and by providing credible, trusted 
advice towards policy and service development.

In this reporting period, the Network contributed several 
submissions and consultations to state and federal 
inquiries and processes, most notably:

· Victoria State Budget Submission

· submission to the Coordinator General for Migrant 
Services in response to the Discussion Paper: 
Next steps to improve Australia’s settlement and 
integration of refugees

· Victoria’s Mental Health and Wellbeing division at the 
Department of Health regarding the mental health 
reforms.

· briefing paper on disability – upon request by the 
Department of Health

· consultation with the Education and Early Years 
team at Foundation House providing evidenced 
accounts of enrolment issues for newly arrived 
refugees for a briefing paper to the Department of 
Education.

MENTAL HEALTH REFORM

The Network has regularly participated in formal 
engagement processes to support the mental health 
reforms in Victoria, focused on ensuring refugee and 
asylum seeker community needs are represented in these 
reforms. This has included representation on the Diverse 
Communities’ Mental Health & Wellbeing Working Group 
which has been established to provide expert advice and 
guidance on the development of a Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Framework. 

With funding from the Department of Health, and in 
partnership with the Community Capacity Building 
team, the Network has recently established a project to 
identify challenges for refugee-background communities 
accessing the mental health system, review approaches 
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to mental health engagement and inform how the reform 
process can foster better integration and coordination of 
services. This project will utilise VRHN member services’ 
existing sector experience and knowledge to identify 
mental health service utilisation and the current gaps that 
the refugee and asylum seeker community experience 
in the mental health service system across Victoria, 
particularly for those refugee communities not commonly 
engaged with health or migration services. It will also 
establish partnerships with community advisory groups 
that will facilitate discussion on the mental health reform 
process from the perspective of different cultural groups 
from refugee backgrounds. 

COVID-19 RESPONSE 

The Network continues to facilitate coordination and 
collaboration across government, health and community 
services through the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition to 
providing sector representation on the State Government 
CALD (culturally and linguistically diverse) Health 
Advisory Panel, the Network has continued to coordinate 
and facilitate COVID-19 sector coordination forums. 
These sector and government stakeholder meetings are 
convened to ensure up-to-date communication around 
any relevant developments, to identify issues affecting 
individuals and communities of refugee backgrounds, 
and to support responses. 

Following changes to the COVID-19 Response team 
at the Department of Health, and the transition of this 
work to Local Public Health Units (LPHU) across Victoria 
through funding by the Victorian Government COVID-19 
Vaccine Ambassador Program Community Engagement 
Program, these Network activities have helped facilitate 
information sharing and coordination between LPHUs 
and the sector to support people from refugee 
backgrounds.

VRHN STRATEGIC PLAN 2022–24

The Network developed its new Strategic Plan for 
2022–24. The plan was informed by a deliberative 
engagement approach, which brought together a 
panel comprising representatives with lived experience 
as a refugee and/or asylum seeker, those with direct 
frontline sector experience and/or lived experience as 
a refugee, as well as representatives with managerial/
governance experience. The panel developed a report 
with key recommendations on what themes and areas 
should be included in the strategic priorities for the 
network in the coming years. The Network’s strategic 
priorities will be Health Accessibility, Mental Health and 
Wellbeing, Disability Services and Access, and Workforce 
Development. 
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TREASURER’S 
REPORT 
I am pleased to present the 2021–22 Annual Accounts for The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc.

The financial statements for the financial year show that the activities of the organisation resulted in an operating 

surplus of $325k. The financial result for the year is especially pleasing given the continued challenges resulting from 

the COVID-19 pandemic. I want to acknowledge management efforts to continue to adapt to new ways of delivering 

services to our clients and communities, while also safeguarding their health and welfare, as well as that of our staff, 

and contributing to the wider community response to COVID-19.

Funding from all sources increased by $2.23m (or 10.5%) from $21.3m in 2020–21 to $23.5m in 2021–22. The increase 

in revenue is primarily due to funding from both federal and state governments for our Afghanistan Community 

Response program of work.

Total expenditure for the year increased by $1.91m (or 9.0%) from $21.3m in 2020–21 to $23.2m in 2021–22. As in 

previous years, the largest expense category was salaries and associated on-costs (including leave provisions). In total, 

these represented 78% of total expenses (76% in the previous financial year).

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2022
The financial position of the organisation has strengthened, with total assets increasing by $2.1m and total liabilities 
increasing by $1.8m, resulting in net assets increasing by $325k. Total equity also increased by $325k as a result of the 
total overall surplus.

Liquidity remains strong in the short term with $1.32 of current assets to fund every $1 of current obligations.

The cash component of the surplus has been utilised to increase the general reserve – with this adjustment being 
$275k. A further $50K was transferred to other specific reserves. 

The general reserve balance represents a reserve to expenditure ratio of 10%. However, including all reserves and 
retained earnings, the ratio of equity to expenditure is 15.3%. The Board of Management has determined that a reserve 
to expenditure ratio ranging from 15% to 18% represents a desirable target. The purpose of the reserve is to meet 
future commitments or unforeseen expenses and to help curb any negative impact on Foundation House’s ability to 
deliver services or develop the organisation in accordance with our Strategic Plan.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The relationships Foundation House has developed over many years with the Commonwealth and Victorian 

governments, and with philanthropic bodies and charitable trusts, continue to support quality service delivery 

to survivors of torture and other traumatic events. However, in the extraordinary year that was 2020–21, funding 

from our partners has not only been maintained for our programs but increased to assist with our response to the 

pandemic. This is a significant testament to the efforts of the CEO and the management team to continue to foster 

and strengthen these relationships, and to deepen community understanding of the importance of our work.

SHANE LUCAS 
Treasurer  

8 November 2022
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TREASURER’S 
REPORT BOARD’S REPORT 

Your Board Members submit the financial report of  
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

BOARD MEMBERS
The names of Board members throughout the financial 
year are below.:

• Remberto Rivera (Chair)

• Richard Home (resigned on 23 November 2021)

• Dick Sloman

• Theodora Elia-Adams 

• Kirsten Pilatti

• Travers McLeod (Secretary)

• Chantelle Radwan 

• Shane Lucas (Treasurer)

• James Flintoft (Appointed on 23/11/2021) 

• Shaymaa Elkadi (Deputy Chair) 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the association is to provide a 
range of support services to survivors of torture and 
other traumatic events who currently reside in Victoria. 

OPERATING RESULT
The surplus amounted to $325,492 (2021: Surplus $3,980).

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the 
end of the financial year which significantly affect 
the operations of the association, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the association in 
future financial years.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION
The lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out 
on page 4 and forms part of the Board Members Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Signed in accordance with a resolution by the members 

of the Board of Management:

SHANE LUCAS 
Treasurer 

8 November 2022

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTES 2022 2021

$ $

REVENUE 2 23,546,587 21,313,377

Salaries, wages and on-costs (18,055,515) (16,097,547)

FASSTT expenses (43,807) (44,181)

Bank and credit card charges (4,254) (2,871)

Building and occupancy costs (872,220) (880,415)

Equipment, computing / IT, supplies and 
depreciation (555,842) (411,548)

Conferences, seminars, publications and 
professional development (82,730) (130,907)

Interpreting costs (814,050) (831,427)

Program, consultant, contractor and client costs (2,106,652) (2,178,776)

Advertising, agency and Board expenses (21,237) (5,668)

Motor vehicle expenses and depreciation (166,434) (198,574)

Client travel expenses (38,904) (43,083)

Printing, stationery and postage (28,636) (50,983)

Telephone expenses (277,892) (316,428)

Professional fees (41,691) (19,800)

Other expenses (111,231) (97,191)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (23,221,095) (21,309,397) 

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 325,492 3,980

Non-operating expenses

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 325,492 3,980

Other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

3 325,492 3,980

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 

conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements.

FINANCIAL REPORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
THE VICTORIAN FOUNDATION FOR SURVIVORS OF TORTURE INC. ABN: 52 783 974 656
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

NOTES 2022 2021

$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 5,204,109 3,678,930

Financial assets 6 4,568,744 4,506,164

Trade and other receivables 7 636,642 267,160

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 10,409,495 8,452,254

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 921,286 1,026,878

Right-of-use assets 9 1,321,481 1,030,979

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 2,242,766 2,057,857

TOTAL ASSETS 12,652,262 10,510,111

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 10 862,771 1,282,726

Contract liabilities (deferred income) 3,800,888 1,962,206

Provisions 11 2,783,497 2,632,926

Lease liabilities 410,606 401,208

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,857,762 6,279,066

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 11 243,298 312,024

Lease liabilities 999,554 692,866

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,242,852 1,004,890

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,100,614 7,283,956

NET ASSETS 3,551,648 3,226,155

EQUITY

Retained earnings 12 1,112,688 1,111,799

Ian McKenzie Reserve 13 39,345 40,234

General Reserve 13 2,348,949 2,074,122

Quentin Buckle Study Grant Reserve 13 38,338 -

Client Assistance Fund Reserve 13 12,327 -

TOTAL EQUITY 3,551,648 3,226,155

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTES 2022 2021

$ $

RETAINED EARNINGS

Opening balance 1,111,799 1,108,799

Surplus/ (deficit) for the period 325,492 3,980

Transfer (to)/from Quentin Buckle Study Grant reserve (38,338) -

Transfer (to) / from Client Assistance Fund reserve (12,327) -

Transfer (to) / from Ian McKenzie reserve 889 3,000

Transfer (to) / from general reserve (274,827) (3,980)

Closing Balance 12 1,112,688 1,111,799

GENERAL RESERVE

Opening reserves 2,074,122 2,070,142

Transfers from retained earnings 274,827 3,980

Closing Balance 13 2,348,949 2,074,122

IAN McKENZIE RESERVE

Opening reserves 40,234 43,234

Transfers from retained earnings (899) (3,000)

Closing Balance 13 39,345 40,234

QUENTIN BUCKLE STUDY GRANT RESERVE

Opening reserves - -

Transfers from retained earnings 38,338 -

Closing Balance 13 38,338 -

CLIENT ASSISTANCE FUND RESERVE

Opening reserves - -

Transfers from retained earnings 12,327 -

Closing Balance 13 12,327 -

TOTAL EQUITY AT YEAR END 3,551,648 3,226,155

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTES 2022 2021

$ $

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from governments grants and others 28,385,139 24,238,192

Payments to consultants, suppliers and employees (26,307,650) (22,007,187)

Interest received 21,598 63,795

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 14 2,099,087 2,294,800

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments into short-term deposit (62,580) (86,164)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (151,050) (131,630)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 20,000 -

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (193,630) (217,794)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilities (380,278) (446,655)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (380,278) (446,655)

NET (DECREASE )/NCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

1,525,179 1,630,351

Cash at beginning of financial year 3,678,930 2,048,579

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 5 5,204,109 3,678,930
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report covers The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture as an individual entity. The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture is an association 
incorporated and domiciled in Victoria, Australia.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
that has been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for- profits Commission Act 
2012. The association is considered to be a not-for-profit 
entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian 
Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting 
policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 
financial report containing relevant and reliable information 
about transactions, events and conditions. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars. The 
financial report was authorised for issue by the Board 
of Management on the date shown on the Board of 
Management declaration.

Reporting Basis and Conventions

The financial report, except for the cash flow information, has 
been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical 
costs modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which 
the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

Significant Judgements and Key Assumptions

Performance obligations under AASB 15

For a performance obligation to exist under AASB 15, 
the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to 
determine when the obligation is satisfied.

Management exercises judgement to determine whether 
the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account 
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or 
implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In 
making this assessment, management includes the nature/
type, cost/value, quantity and the period of transfer related 
to the goods or services promised.

In relation to revenue from government grants, the 
association principally uses an input method, costs incurred, 
to measure the satisfaction of performance obligations over 
time. In conjunction with the application of this method, 

management reviews whether applicable performance 
targets contained in within the grant agreement have also 
been sufficiently met, to the extent that revenue has been 
recognised.

Lease term and options to extend under AASB 16

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of 
a lease together with both periods covered by an option 
to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not 
to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably 
going to be exercised is a key management judgement that 
the association will make.

The association determines the likelihood that it will 
exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis, looking at 
various factors such as which assets are key to the future 
strategies of the association.

Other than described above, no significant judgements 
have been made in applying accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

No key assumptions have been made concerning the 
future and there are no other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance date that the Board Members 
consider have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Accounting Policies

(a)  Income Tax

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. is 
a charitable association registered with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and is exempt 
from income tax under Subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

(b)  Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property plant and equipment is carried at 
cost less any accumulated depreciation..

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed 
annually by the association to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount of those assets.

The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and the depreciated replacement cost.

Fixed assets valued at $4,000 or above are measured at 
historical cost less depreciation.
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Depreciation

The depreciable amounts of all fixed assets are depreciated 
over the useful lives of the assets to the association 
commencing from the time the asset was held ready for use.

Leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of 
either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are:

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET DEPRECIATION RATES DEPRECIATION BASIS

Building and improvements 6.67-50% Straight Line

Plant and equipment 10-33% Straight Line

Motor vehicles 27.5% Diminishing Value

(c)  Leases

Right-of-use asset

At the lease commencement, the association recognises a 
right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease 
term. The lease term includes extension periods where the 
association believes it is reasonably certain that the option 
will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model 
where cost on initial recognition comprises of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments and 
estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease 
incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term 
on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in 
accordance with the impairment of non-financial assets 
accounting policy.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value 
of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of 
the lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, 
however where this cannot be readily determined, the 
association’s incremental borrowing rate is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. The lease liability is remeasured whether there is a 
lease modification, change in estimate of the lease term or 
index upon which the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI), 
or a change in the assessment of lease term.

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right-of-
use asset is adjusted to reflect the remeasurement or is 
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Exceptions to lease accounting

The association has elected to apply the exceptions to 
lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with 
a term of less than or equal to 12 months) and leases of 
low-value assets. The association recognises the payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(d)  Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period the association 
determines whether there is an evidence of an impairment 
indicator for non-financial assets.

Where an indicator exists (and regardless for indefinite life 
intangible assets and intangible assets not yet available 
for use) the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 
Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, 
the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating 
unit (CGU) is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher 
of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating 
unit. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods 
for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss.

(e)  Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the association’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
balance date. Employee benefits expected to be settled 
within one year together with benefits arising from wages 
and salaries, and annual leave which will be settled after 
one year, have been measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liability is settled plus related on-costs. 
Other employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

Contributions are made by the association to an employee 
superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when 
incurred.

(f)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at-call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments. Term deposits exceeding three months are 
recorded as a financial asset.
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(g)  Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

The association generates fee income from the provision 
for counselling and support services. Revenue is recognised 
based on the satisfaction of performance obligations 
contained in the contract with the customer. This is usually 
at the point-in-time the counselling sessions and support 
activities are provided.

Contract assets and liabilities

Consideration paid by the customer in advance of the 
satisfaction of performance obligations is recognised as a 
contract liability.

Costs incurred in fulfilling a contract in progress (where 
performance obligations are not yet satisfied) are 
recognised as a contract cost asset where the costs 
relate directly to the satisfaction of contract performance 
obligations and are expected to be recovered.

Grants and donations

When the association receives grants and donations it 
assesses whether a contract exists and whether that 
contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific 
performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15.

When these conditions are satisfied, the association:

• identifies each performance obligation relating to 
the grant or donation;

• recognises a contract liability for its obligations 
under the contract; and

• recognises revenue as it satisfied its performance 
obligations.

When the contract is not enforceable or does not have 
sufficiently specific performance obligations, the grant or 
donation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants under the Australian Government cash 
flow boost initiative have been recognised as revenue the 
association became entitled to receive the grants, which 
was assessed to be the time at which the applicable 
Activity Statements were lodged with the Australian 
Taxation Office.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis 
taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.

(h)  Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date 
that the association becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. On initial recognition, all 

financial instruments are measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs..

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are subsequently 
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial 
assets.

Classification 
On initial recognition, the association classifies its 
financial assets into the following categories, those 
measured at:

• amortised cost

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition unless the association changes its 
business model for managing financial assets.

Amortised cost
Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets 
where:

• the business model is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The association’s financial assets measured at amortised 
cost comprise trade and other receivables, term deposits 
and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 
financial position. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less provision for impairment.

Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Gain or loss 
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets 
Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an 
expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following assets 
for financial assets measured at amortised cost

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial 
assets has increased significant since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECL, the association considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and 
analysis based on the association’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward 
looking information.

The association uses the presumption that an asset which 
is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant 
increase in credit risk.
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The association uses the presumption that a financial 
asset is in default when:

• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the association in full, without 
recourse to the association to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or

• the financial assets are more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of 
the difference between the cash flows due to the 
association in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows expected to be received. This is applied using a 
probability weighted approach.

Trade receivables
Impairment of trade receivables have been determined 
using the simplified approach in AASB 9 which uses 
an estimation of lifetime expected credit losses. The 
association has determined the probability of non-
payment of the receivable and multiplied this by the 
amount of the expected loss arising from default.

The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate 
allowance account with the loss being recognised in 
finance expense. Once the receivable is determined to be 
uncollectable then the gross carrying amount is written 
off against the associated allowance.

Where the association renegotiates the terms of trade 
receivables due from certain customers, the new 
expected cash flows are discounted at the original 
effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the 
carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Impairment of other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost are determined using the expected credit 
loss model in AASB 9. On initial recognition of the asset, 
an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 
months is recognised. Where the asset has experienced 
a significant increase in credit risk, the lifetime losses are 
estimated and recognised.

Financial liabilities

The association measures all financial liabilities initially at 
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. The financial liabilities of 
the association comprise trade and other payables.

(i)  General Reserve

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer 
surplus from retained earnings. There is no policy of regular 
transfer. It is used to support ongoing projects, provide seed 
funding for new projects and replace capital equipment.

(j)   Ian McKenzie Reserve

The Ian McKenzie reserve represents a donation from the 
estate of the late Mr Ian McKenzie, VFST Board Member, to 
be used to assist our clients to build new lives in Australia.

(k)  Quentin Buckle Study Grant Reserve

The Quentin Buckle Study Grant honours the life and 
contribution of Mr Quentin Buckle who was one of the 
founders of VFST over thirty years ago. The funds allocated 
to this grant are to be used for selected VFST clients in 
recognition of their academic and personal achievements 
and to support them with their education. For accounting 
purposes, it is considered a reserve.

(l)  Client Assistance Fund Reserve

VFST receives money from philanthropic organisations 
and other individual donors to be used as donations to 
assist clients; we maintain a ‘Client Assistance Fund’ for 
this purpose. VFST is not a material aid organisation, but 
in special circumstances we are able to use these funds to 
provide small grants directly to clients to use for one-off 
activities/purchases that are related to achieving their case 
goals. For accounting purposes, it is considered a reserve.

(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Receivables and payables 
are stated inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on 
a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows.

(n)  Continuation of Government Funding

All significant government funding will continue in 2022-23.

(o)   Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

The association has adopted all standards which became 
effective for the first time during the year ended 30 June 2022.

(p)  Economic dependence

The association is dependent on the Commonwealth 
Department of Health and Aged Care and the Victorian 
Department of Health for the majority of its revenue. The 
association has no reason to believe that these departments 

will not continue to support the association in the future.
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NOTE 2: REVENUE 
2022 2021

$ $

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care 11,704,218 10,649,775

Commonwealth Department of Home Affairs 1,914,076 1,895,847

Victorian Department of Health 5,853,587 5,432,296

Victorian Department of Education and Training 1,834,952 1,487,617

Victorian Department of Premier and Cabinet 630,000 200,000

21,936,834 19,656,535

FEE-FOR-SERVICE INCOME

International Health and Medical Services 682,436 815,392

Other fee Income 23,562 145,482

705,999 960,874

22,642,833 20,617,409

REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCES

Donations 125,045 60,142

Grants from Foundations, Trusts and Corporations 366,908 317,764

Interest Income 26,059 51,617

Membership Subscriptions 1,245 675

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 17,955 -

Consulting and Training Fees 86,289 67,798

Reimbursements and Other Income 280,254 197,974

903,754 695,968

23,546,587 21,313,377

NOTE 3: SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
The surplus for the year is $325,492 (2021: $3,980 
surplus) and arises after charging: 

2022 2021

$ $

Depreciation 660,459 698,592

Interest expense 68,440 63,379

Superannuation expense (defined contributions) 1,542,042 1,309,471

NOTE 4: REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR’S  
2022 2021

$ $

Audit of the financial report 23,953 19,800

Audit of grant acquittals 1,750 -

Taxation services 4,100 -

NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
2022 2021

$ $

Cash on hand - 3,602

Cash at bank 5,204,109 3,675,328

Cash at end of year in Statement of Cash Flows 5,204,109 3,678,930

NOTE 6: FINANCIAL ASSETS 
2022 2021

$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Term deposits 4,568,744 4,506,164

NOTE 7: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
2022 2021

$ $

Trade receivables 332,673 82,652

Sundry debtors 60,106 60,106

Accrued revenue 69,350 69,575

Prepayments 174,513 54,827

636,642 267,160

NOTE 8: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2022 2021

$ $

Buildings and improvements 1,963,475 1,956,375

Accumulated depreciation (1,431,860) (1,349,021)

531,615 607,354

Plant and equipment at cost 867,910 772,627

Accumulated depreciation (551,406) (394,413)

316,505 378,214

Motor vehicles at cost 212,623 199,255

Accumulated depreciation (139,456) (157,946)

73,167 41,309

TOTAL OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 921,286 1,026,877

 
Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movements in the carrying amount of each class of 
property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year are as follows:

2022 2021

$ $

BUILDING AND IMPROVEMENTS

Written down value at the beginning of the year 607,354 687,826

Additions 7,100 -

Depreciation (82,839) (80,472)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 531,615 607,354

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Written down value at the beginning of the year 378,214 371,650

Additions 95,283 131,630

Disposals - -

Depreciation (156,993) (125,067)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 316,505 378,214

MOTOR VEHICLES

Written down value at the beginning of the year 41,309 56,978

Additions 48,667 -

Disposals (2,045) -

Depreciation (14,764) (15,669)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 73,167 41,309
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NOTE 9: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS  

BUILDINGS
MOTOR 

VEHICLES
TOTAL

$ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 996,706 34,273 1,030,979

Additions 636,184 60,181 696,365

Depreciation expense (363,320) (42,543) (405,863)

BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,269,570 51,911 1,321,481

NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
2022 2021

$ $

Trade payables 862,711 1,282,726

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS 
2022 2021

$ $

CURRENT

Annual leave 1,560,064 1,403,447

Long service leave 1,222,893 1,229,479

2,783,497 2,632,926

NON-CURRENT

Long service leave 243,298 312,024

3,026,795 2,944,949

NOTE 12: RETAINED EARNINGS  
2022 2021

$ $

Opening balance 1,111,799 1,108,799

Total comprehensive income / loss for the period 325,492 3,980

Transfer to Quentin Buckle Study Grant reserve (38,338) -

Transfer to Client Assistance Fund reserve (12,327) -

Transfer to general reserves (274,827) (3,980)

Transfer from Ian McKenzie reserve 889 3,000

CLOSING BALANCE 1,112,688 1,111,799

NOTE 13: RESERVES  
2022 2021

$ $

General reserve 2,348,949 2,074,122

Ian McKenzie reserve 39,345 40,234

Quentin Buckle Study Grant reserve 38,338 -

Client Assistance Fund reserve 12,327 -

2,438,959 2,114,356

The general reserve is used to transfer surplus from retained 
earnings, as provided by the VFST Reserves Policy. It is 
used to support ongoing projects, provide seed funding for 
new projects and replace capital equipment.

The Ian McKenzie reserve represents a donation from the 
estate of the late Mr Ian McKenzie, VFST Board Member, to 
be used to assist our clients to build new lives in Australia.

NOTE 14: NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES  

2022 2021

$ $

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 325,492 3,980

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 660,459 698,592

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (17,955) -

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade receivables (369,482) 303,416

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:

Trade payables (419,955) 728,606

Other liabilities 1,838,682 497,289

Provisions 81,845 62,917

2,099,087 2,294,800

NOTE 15: MEMBERS
The organisation is an incorporated association. In the 
event of the winding up or dissolution of the association, 
any property remaining after the satisfaction of all debts 
and liabilities will not be distributed or transferred to 
members but will be distributed or transferred to other 
institution(s) with similar objectives to The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture.

NOTE 16: RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE
The names of persons who were Board members at any 
time during the year are set out in the Board’s Report. 
Board members do not receive remuneration for services 
provided. There were no other transactions that require 
disclosure for the year ended 30 June 2022. (2021: Nil)

NOTE 17: EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
The association has no capital commitments contracted 
at 30 June 2022. (2021: Nil). The association has no 
commitments for non-cancellable operating leases. 
(2021: Nil).

NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The association’s principal financial instruments comprise 
trade receivables and payables, cash and term deposits. 
These activities expose the association to a variety of 
financial risks including market risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Board Members manage the different types of risks 
to which the association is exposed by considering risk 
and monitoring levels of exposure to the risks identified 
and by being aware of the environment and external 
factors that will impact the risk. This includes monitoring 
interest rates and the factors that impact interest rate 

32

FOUNDATION HOUSE ANNUAL REPORT 2021–2022



movements and determining how best to monitor the 
risk arising from those movements. Ageing analyses and 
monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken 
to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through 
general business budgets and forecasts.

The association holds the following financial instruments:

2022 2021

$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 5,204,109 3,678,930

Term deposits 4,568,744 4,506,164

Trade and other receivables 392,779 142,758

Total Financial Assets 10,165,632 8,327,852

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
- Trade and sundry creditors

862,771 1,282,726

Lease liabilities 1,410,160 1,094,074

Total financial liabilities 2,272,931 2,376,800

NET EXPOSURE 7,892,701 5,951,052

NOTE 19: LEASES 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows is shown in the table below:

< 1 YEAR 1-5 YEARS > 5 YEARS
TOTAL

UNDISCOUNTED LEASE 
LIABILITIES

$ $ $ $

2022 358,352 838,419 76,442 1,273,394

2021 326,710 616,787 - 943,497

NOTE 20: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
The total remuneration paid to key management personnel 
of the association was $1,400,679 (2021: $1,352,721)

NOTE 21: ASSOCIATION DETAILS  
The principal place of business of the Association is:

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc.
Foundation House 
4 Gardiner Street,  
Brunswick Vic 3056     

NOTE 22: AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end 
of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the association, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
association in future financial years.

BOARD MEMBERS’ DECALARATION
In the Board members’ opinion:

1. The attached financial statements and notes thereto 
present a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture 
Inc. as at 30 June 2022 and its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date in accordance 
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simplified Disclosures and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc. will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of 
the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

  

REMBERTO RIVERA   SHANE LUCAS  
Chair  Treasurer  

8 November 2022  8 November 2022 
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20 Albert St, Blackburn VIC 3130
T +61 3 9894 2500 F +61 3 9894 1622
contact@sawarddawson.com.au
sawarddawson.com.au Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Member of Russell Bedford International

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 

ABN 52 783 974 656 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the board members of The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022, there have 
been: 

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 
  

(ii) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Saward Dawson 

Jeffrey Tulk 
Partner 

Blackburn 

Date: 17 November 2022 
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Member of Russell Bedford International

 
 
 
 

 
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc (the entity), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, statement of profit or loss and 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 
board members’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc, 
is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 
 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Responsibility of the Board Members for the Financial Report 

The board members of the entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the board 
members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
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The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
In preparing the financial report, the board members are responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the board members either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the board members. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of the board members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Member of Russell Bedford International

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 

ABN 52 783 974 656 

Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 

We communicate with the board members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

Saward Dawson 

Jeffrey Tulk 
Partner 

Blackburn 

Date: 17 November 2022 

d
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PATRON IN CHIEF 
Her Excellency the Honourable Linda Dessau AC, 
Governor of Victoria

PATRONS 

• Prof Hilary Charlesworth AM 

• Ms Dur-é Dara OAM 

• Prof David de Kretser AC 

• Mrs Jan de Kretser 

• Mr Petro Georgiou AO 

• Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG

LIFE MEMBERS
Our Life Members are those deemed by the Board 
of Management to have made an outstanding and 
significant contribution to the work of Foundation 
House.

• Quentin Buckle (1953–2003) – 2001

• Alexander Stitt AM (1937–2016) – 2015

• Paddy Stitt – 2015

• Margaret Wehl – 2014

• Michelle Groves – 2018

• Lynne Haultain – 2019

• David Bilander – 2021

• Helen Casey – 2021

• Richard Home – 2021

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
• Remberto Rivera – Chair

• Shaymaa Elkadi – Deputy Chair

• Shane Lucas – Treasurer

• Travers McLeod – Secretary

• Helen Casey – (retired November 2021)

• Theodora Elia-Adams

• Richard Home – (retired November 2021)

• James Flintoff

• Kirstin Pilatti

• Chantelle Radwan

• Dick Sloman

AGENCY MANAGEMENT TEAM
• Paris Aristotle AO – Chief Executive Officer

• Mardi Stow – General Manager Community 
Capacity Building

• Rudy Gonzalez – General Manager Practice and 
Sector Development

• Siobhan O’Mara – General Manager Corporate 
Services

• Kylie Scoullar – General Manager Direct Services

• Rebecca Harvey – Regional Manager North (to 
13 May 2022)

• Archana Bhat – Regional Manager North (from 
27 June 2022)

• Jasmina Mulugeta – Regional Manager South 
East

• Julia Doherty – Regional Manager West

OUR PEOPLE
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STAFF TEAMS

DIRECT SERVICES

• North Region

• South East Region

• West Region

• Intake and Access 

• Performance Support, Monitoring and Analysis

• Complementary Therapies

• Ucan2

• Rural and Regional Services

• Refugee Mental Health Clinic

COMMUNITY CAPACITY BUILDING

• Capacity Building (CaB)

• Community Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Promotion

• COVID Mental Health Response

• Vaccination Program

• Client and Community Advisory Groups

PRACTICE AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT

• Practice Development and Learning

• Education and Early Years

• Victorian Refugee Health Network

CORPORATE SERVICES

• Executive Services

• Finance

• Human Resources

• Information Management

• Information Technology

• Quality Improvement
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• Alice Abalo

• Asli Abdullahi

• Luqman Abou-Eid

• Jenny Adams

• Jenny Addy

• Mujahid Ahmed

• Zara Al-Hasany

• Firial Ali

• Razia Ali

• Yugi Aloori

• Paris Aristotle

• Tareq Bakhtani

• Christine Bakopanos

• Tara Barmby

• Tom Barton

• Asia Batool

• Dani Beaini

• Humaira Begum

• Maryam Behzadian

• Belinda Belanji

• Salwa Benyamin

• Diana Berberi

• Sarah Berberi

• Adriana Bernardo

• Sean Bezard

• Archana Bhat

• Anita Biesheuvel

• Ruth Bignell

• Mike Bromhead

• Melissa Buckley

• Alberto Burgos

• Alex Caldwell

• Luisa Capasso

• Tilly Carrodus

• Louisa Carter

• Maddison Cassidy

• Simone Castellazzi

• Hala Chamas

• Donna Chesters

• KC Chirenje

• Tegrin Christie

• Giovanna Citta

• Jennifer Clarke

• Anne Clifford

• Guy Coffey

• Rebecca Cole

• Amy Collard

• Kathy Cooney

• Lyndal Corrie

• Connie Crowe

• Emilie D’Acre

• Elsie Daddow

• Fi Rose Dal

• Salam Dankha

• Luisa Daradar

• Phoebe Davey

• Maneka Dayaratne

• Cathy De Bono

• Frank De Rose

• Zaheera Deen

• Rebecca Farzam 

Deering

• Anna Demuth

• Santino Deng

• Shadi Denkha

• Julia Doherty

• Philippa Duell-Piening

• Bernadette Durkan

• Olivia Dwyer

• Zakia Ebrahim

• Sue Ekkel

• Felicity Elkiana

• Reham Elzeiny

• Reem Faiq

• Salah Farah

• Miguel Feliciano

• Michael Fenton

• Sasha Findlay

• Melissa Finlayson

• Sab Flamuri

• Kylie Forbes

• Pearl Francis 

Thiruthuvaraj

• Samantha Furneaux

• Toto Ganemy-Kunoo

• Madeline Gange

• Pina Garasi

• Ayanttu Genemo

• Maddy Giummarra

• Janet Glover

• Charu Goel

• Shubha Gokhale

• Rudy Gonzalez

• Silvana Goreal

• Greg Gow

• Allison Greene

• Goldie Greenwald

• Daniela Grozavu

• Titan Gurech

• Gavin Halge

• Victoria Hammond

• Maryna Hanna

• Sraddhanaya Ainslie 

Hannan

• Rupert Harlock

• Rose Harper

• Michelle Hartnett

• Rebecca Harvey

• Margaret Hatton

• Janet Hatzis

• Kaye Hawkins

• Lizzie Hess

• Yvette Higgins

• Alisha Hill

• Hefzibah Hmung

• Jackie Hoggart

• Natasha Holt

• Chris Hortin

• Teresita Horvath

• Ash Hosseini

• Jeanine Hourani

• Ba Ham Htan

• Katherine Hubbard

• Carl Huby

• Tessa Hutcheson

• Rosie Issa

• Tess Jolley

• Susanna Julian

OUR STAFF
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• Caroline Kajewski

• Andrew Kalon

• Jamila Karimi

• Shideh Karimi

• Tigist Kebede

• Gillian Kerr

• Tharanika 

Ketheswaran

• Christina Kioulafas

• Amy Kludas

• Toby Koberle

• Teresa Kohut

• Dina Korkees

• Nyaluak Koth

• Cindy La

• Manar Labib

• Helen Lacey

• Samantha Laird

• Roslyn Leary

• Madeleine Lesjak-

Atton

• Jasmin Lesniak

• Sue Liddelow

• Cecilia Lopez

• Grace Lopez

• Jo MacBryde

• Marilyn Magno

• Mahdokht Mahboobi

• Jesse Maher

• Winniy Manyang

• Beth Maplestone

• Ann Marsh

• Afnan Matti

• Zabi Mazoori

• Grace McArrich

• Kylie McDermott

• Morag McKillop

• Vanya McLennan

• Lesley McLeod

• Lucy Meldrum

• Parwin Miazoi

• Yonas Mihtsuntu

• Callie Miles

• Aviva Minc

• Mahidiya Monis

• Maria Mora

• Robyn Morgan

• Lisa Moseley

• Zahra Mousawi

• Munya Muchacha

• Jasmina Mulugeta

• Kerry Munnery

• Chris Nathan

• Julian Nation

• Miranda Nation

• Karthika Neduveli

• Luke Neeson

• Philippa Newton

• Esther Nima Sung

• Kifarkis Nissan

• Samuel Notaro

• Hala Nur

• Siobhan O’Mara

• Bernard O’Rourke

• Stefan Parsons

• Bec Paterson

• Sal Pe

• Anna Pearson

• Georgia Phillips

• Maria Piteri

• Emma Preece Boyd

• Linda Pressey

• Meg Quartermaine

• Irene Rahman

• Raj Ramanathapillai

• Mary Read

• Dashiell Rees

• Deng Riak

• Kristina Rienmueller

• Sofia Riveroll

• Jacqui Robson

• Matt Rodger

• Joyce Sadia-Peter

• Zamarai Samim

• Lina Sarwar

• Anna Schwarzenberg

• Kylie Scoullar

• Kaye Sebire

• Krista Senden

• Stephanie Shavin

• Essam Shehata

• Reginald Shwe

• Francisco Silva

• Chloe Sobejko

• Nessy Soliman

• Ola Soliman

• Neri Solomon

• Amy Somers

• Ferdinand 
Spangenberg

• Mardi Stow

• Susie Strehlow

• Andrea Suarez

• Jo Szwarc

• Jwan Takian

• Shary Tan

• Paul Tarsitano

• Dawt Tha Thang Eng

• Diana Thomas

• Claudia Thoms

• Vanessa Tippala

• Tess Tokatlidis

• Tien Truong

• Maria Tucci

• Tracey Um

• Rachael Unwin

• Esme Van Der Schee

• Andrea Van der Werf

• Jackie Vandersluys

• Rosa Vasseghi

• Penny Vassiliades

• Elise Verity

• Yvette Vigor

• Mae Vincent

• Renzo Vittorino

• Heidi Wegner

• Leesl Wegner

• Chitlu Wyn

• Zi Ye

• Thong Za Tawng

• Amani Zayegh

• Felicity Zwalf
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FUNDING 
• Australian Government Department of Health 

• Australian Government Department of Home Affairs 

• Victoria State Government Department of Education 
and Training 

• Victoria State Government Department of Health 
and Human Services 

• Victoria State Government Department of Justice 
and Community Safety

• Department of Premier and Cabinet

• North Western Melbourne Primary Health Network 

TRUSTS AND FOUNDATIONS 
• 6A Foundation 

• Caroline Durre Sub Fund (Australian Communities 
Foundation)

• Igniting Change Foundation

• Jacka Foundation of Natural Therapies

• Leo & Mina Fink Fund 

• Lyngala Foundation

• Mutual Trust

• Portland House Foundation 

• Scanlon Foundation

• Shulu Foundation 

• Spotlight Foundation

• The Myer Foundation

SERVICE AND PROGRAM PARTNERS 
• Afghan Australian Philanthropic Association 

• Afghan Women’s Association Victoria

• AMES Australia 

• Asylum Seeker Resource Centre

• Austin Health

• Australian Afghan Initiative 

• Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited

• Barwon Child Youth and Family

• Bendigo Community health Service

• Blackburn English Language School

• Cabrini Asylum Seeker and Refugee Health Hub

• Catholic Care Dandenong

• Catholic Care Mildura

• Centre for Mental Health Learning

• Centre for Multicultural Youth 

• Chin Elders Group 

• Chisholm Institute 

• Croydon Hills Community Care 

• Croydon Primary School

• Child Youth Mental Health and Wellbeing Service

• Dandenong West Primary School

• Deakin University

• Doveton Secondary College

• Eastern Health 

• Eastern Refugee Clinic 

• Elisha Care

• Early Life Mental Health Services

• International Health and Medical Services 

• Life Without Barriers 

• Melba College

• MiCare

• Migrant Information Centre 

• Monash Refugee Health

• Mooroolbark College 

• Murdoch Children’s Research Institute

• Noble Park English Language School 

• Orygen Youth Health

• Primary Care Connect Shepparton

• Refugee and Immigrant Health Clinic

• Refugee Legal 

• Refugee Legal Centre

• Ringwood Secondary College 

• Royal Children’s Hospital Mental Health

• South East Community Links 

• Southern Migrant and Refugee Centre 

• Spectrum MRC

OUR THANKS
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• Springvale Rise Primary School

• St Vincent’s Hospital 

• Tamil Senior Citizens’ Association

• United Cultural Support Inc.

• Uniting Komak 

• Utopia Refugee and Asylum Seeker Health

• Victorian Afghan Associations Network 

• Victorian Afghan Student Associations 

• Victorian Health and Human Services Building 
Authority

• Victorian Transcultural Mental Health

• Wellsprings for Women

• Yarra Hills Secondary College

• Youth Justice

• Youth Support and Advocacy Service

FINANCIAL AND IN-KIND SUPPORT 
• Collective Being 

• De La Salle College staff and students 

• Phillip Dunlop 

• Elisha Care Croydon

• Lynne Haultain

• Kate Helder – Mindheart Connect Foundation 

• Dr David Kelly – Complementary Therapies volunteer

• Mark Madden 

• MinterEllison

• Moonee Valley Natural Healing Centre

• Narelle Sketcher

• Parkville Lions Club 

• Southern Light Herbs

• Helen Taktikos from OptimalRx

• The Practice Wellbeing Centre – Torrens University  
of Australia

• Virginia Henry

INSTITUTIONAL ETHICS COMMITTEE 
• Dr Dick Sloman (Chair) 

• Prof Helen Herrman 

• Jill Jameson 

• Dr Caroline Lambert

• David Manne 

• Prof Rhonda Small 

• Dr Peter Streker 

REFUGEE MENTAL HEALTH CLINIC
• Dr Prem Chopra 

• Dr Joanne Gardiner 

• Dr John Gill

• Dr Peter McArdle

• Dr Gita Mammen

• Dr Radhika Santhanam-Martin

• Dr Tahmineh Salehi

• Dr Nivanka De Silva

CONTRIBUTORS TO RESEARCH
• Assoc. Prof Jennifer Balint

• Dr Karen Block

• Professor Stephanie Brown

• Assoc. Prof Angela Dew

• Assoc. Prof Agnes Dodd

• Dr Ida Kaplan

• Assoc. Prof Jeanette Lawrence

• Prof Angela Nickerson
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BRUNSWICK

4 Gardiner Street,  

Brunswick, VIC 3056,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8900

f: (03) 9277 7871

DANDENONG

155 Foster Street,  

Dandenong, VIC 3175,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8901

f: (03) 9277 7871

RINGWOOD

18 Bond Street,  

Ringwood, VIC 3134,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8902

f: (03) 9277 7871

DALLAS

Level 4, 61 Riggall Street, 

Dallas, VIC 3047, 

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8904

f: (03) 9277 7871

SUNSHINE

163 Harvester Road,  

Sunshine, VIC 3020,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8903

f: (03) 9277 7871

FOUNDATION HOUSE –  
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (VFST)
General email – all offices: info@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral email – all offices: intake@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral telephone – all offices: (03) 9389 8900
Web address: www.foundationhouse.org.au




